ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\* \* \*

DAMON CAMPBELL,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 39127

FILED

AUG 02 2002

JANETTE M. BLOOM  
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT  
BY S. Young  
DEPUTY CLERK

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DAVID M. SCHIECK, ESQ.  
LAW OFFICE OF DAVID M. SCHIECK  
302 EAST CARSON AVE., STE. 600  
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101

STEWART BELL, ESQ.  
DISTRICT ATTORNEYS OFFICE  
200 S. THIRD STREET  
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155

FRANKIE SUE DEL PAPA, ESQ.  
NEVADA ATTORNEY GENERAL  
Nevada Bar No. 0192  
100 N. CARSON STREET  
CARSON CITY, NV 89701  
(702) 687-3538

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 02 2002

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. WAS IT ERROR FOR THE COURT TO REFUSE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON DEFENDANT'S THEORY OF SELF DEFENSE

2. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING CAMPBELL'S MOTION TO STRIKE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES

3. WHETHER THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES ENUNCIATED IN NRS 200.033 ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS THEY FAIL TO TRULY NARROW THE CATEGORIES OF DEATH ELIGIBLE DEFENDANTS

4. WAS THERE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT CAMPBELL OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER

5. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE ADMISSION OF OTHER BAD ACTS AGAINST CAMPBELL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

DAMON LAMAR CAMPBELL (hereinafter referred to as CAMPBELL) was charged with Murder with Use of A Deadly Weapon and two counts of Attempt Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon arising from an incident which occurred on July 22, 2000 (1 APP 1-2). After a preliminary hearing CAMPBELL was bound over to Department 15 for trial and arraigned on September 7, 2000 (1 APP 139). Subsequent to CAMPBELL'S preliminary hearing the State obtained a Grand Jury Indictment against Sheldon Holliman arising from the same incident and upon Motion of the State the Court on October 17, 2000 consolidated the cases for trial. (1 APP 141)

The State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty against CAMPBELL alleging the existence of three (3) aggravating circumstances; great risk of death to more than one person; the murder was committed because of perceived race, color, religion or national origin and in the alternative that the murder was committed upon one or more persons at random and without apparent motive (1 APP 3-4).

Trial commenced on November 5, 2001 and concluded on November 13, 2001 with the jury returning a verdict of guilty as to Count I Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon and Count II Attempt Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon and Not Guilty as to Count III, Attempt Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon. (1 APP 151) The Penalty Hearing was lasted two days commencing on November 14, 2001 and on November 15, 2001 the jury returned a



1 verdict of Life Without the Possibility of Parole. (1 APP 152)  
2 CAMPBELL was thereafter sentenced to a concurrent forty-three  
3 (43) to 192 months on the Attempt Murder Conviction (1 APP 153-  
4 54). The Judgement of Conviction was filed January 22, 2002.  
5 (1 APP 135-36) The Notice of Appeal was therefore timely filed  
6 on January 25, 2002. (1 APP 137-38)  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sergeant Ken Hefner was dispatched to 2933 Elm Avenue in Las Vegas on July 22, 2000 and when he arrived the scene had already been secured and a perimeter set up (2 APP 157). After a short while Hefner became concerned because one suspect was believed to be in an apartment with windows that faced the scene (2 APP 158). Entry was gained to the apartment with a key provided by the manager of the apartment after there was no response to knocks on the door (2 APP 158). Two males (CAMPBELL and Hollimon) and two females (Theresa West and Alissa Rapaglia) were found on a mattress that was in the center of the living room floor (2 APP 158-159).

Crime scene analyst Larry Morton responded to the scene and found a deceased male laying behind some cars parked to the north of the apartments (2 APP 162). There were several expended cartridge cases, some splintered wood, clothing strewn about and what appeared to be blood in several locations (2 APP 162). A search warrant was obtained for the apartment where the four individuals were located and Morton recovered a Ruger .45 caliber pistol and a Winchester shotgun from inside of the residence (2 APP 162). No bullets or projectiles were recovered (2 APP 164).

Six of the cartridges were same type of ammunition, .45 ACP with a headstamp of WWC99 and three cartridge cases contained the headstamp WWC94 (2 APP 165). The three WWC94 were located under the bathroom windows outside of the

1 apartments (2 APP 165) and had been fired from the Ruger .45  
2 recovered in the apartment (2 APP 186).

3 Forensic pathologist Gary Telgenhoff performed the autopsy  
4 on Luis Alberto Martinez on July 22, 2000 (2 APP 188).  
5 Martinez was 5 feet 4 inches and weighed one hundred and forty-  
6 two pounds (2 APP 189). There were a number of scrapes and  
7 slight tears in the skin on the left side of the face that had  
8 small pebbles or sand in them as if the person had come in  
9 contact with the ground (2 APP 189). There was a gunshot wound  
10 on the left side of the head with an exit wound on the right  
11 side of the head (2 APP 189). Cause of death was the  
12 penetrating gunshot wound to the head (2 APP 189). Blood  
13 alcohol level was .24 (2 APP 190).

14 Just prior to trial Sheldon Hollimon entered into a plea  
15 bargain with the State in exchange for his testimony, pleading  
16 guilty to accessory to murder with the State agreeing to make  
17 no recommendation at the time of sentencing (2 APP 202).  
18 Hollimon first met CAMPBELL in high school and they were good  
19 friends on July 22, 2000 (2 APP 193). Hollimon called CAMPBELL  
20 around noon on the 21st and asked him to come pick him up  
21 because he was having problems at home (2 APP 193). CAMPBELL  
22 picked him up a few hours later (2 APP 193). The plan for the  
23 evening was to rent movies and watch them at CAMPBELL'S  
24 apartment with the two girls (2 APP 194). After they pulled  
25 the car into the parking area and got out Hollimon observed two  
26 Hispanic males squatting down at the corner of the building  
27  
28

1 drinking liquor. (2 APP 194-95)

2 CAMPBELL and Hollimon started walking toward CAMPBELL'S  
3 apartment and CAMPBELL asked the two men to watch his car  
4 because it had been stolen in the past (2 APP 195). After  
5 Hollimon went through the gate he heard CAMPBELL ask the men  
6 not to pee on the wall of his apartment (2 APP 196). The men  
7 answered in Spanish and CAMPBELL went toward them and told them  
8 that he had asked them not to pee on the wall (2 APP 197). The  
9 body language of the two Hispanic males showed aggravation or  
10 aggression (2 APP 197). As CAMPBELL approached the two  
11 Hispanic men, they stood up and started swinging and then  
12 whistled (2 APP 197). Hollimon believed that CAMPBELL threw  
13 the first punch (2 APP 197). Holliman tussled with the other  
14 Hispanic male and then he ran and several other Hispanic males  
15 came around the corner (2 APP 198). Hollimon tried to run away  
16 and was tackled against a truck (2 APP 198). He recalled that  
17 one of them had a stick and that they were throwing bottles at  
18 him and CAMPBELL (2 APP 209). Hollimon pushed the individual  
19 off of himself and then ran to CAMPBELL'S apartment (2 APP  
20 198). While he was running to the apartment, he heard shots (2  
21 APP 199). A couple of seconds after Hollimon entered the  
22 apartment, CAMPBELL ran in and told them to lay down (2 APP  
23 199). Hollimon heard several more shots prior to CAMPBELL  
24 entering the apartment (2 APP 199). CAMPBELL was carrying a  
25 chrome automatic handgun (2 APP 200).

26  
27 The lights were off in the apartment and they did not call  
28

1 the police (2 APP 199). CAMPBELL told everyone to lay down in  
2 his room and then Hollimon heard a racket in the house like  
3 CAMPBELL was tripping over stuff (2 APP 200). CAMPBELL stated  
4 that he thought they had a gun and he shot a couple of them (2  
5 APP 200). Outside in the parking lot Hollimon could hear a  
6 bunch of Spanish talk and noises like someone kicking a car (2  
7 APP 200). CAMPBELL then stated that they're messing up my car  
8 and Hollimon heard shots that sounded like they were being  
9 fired from inside the apartment (2 APP 201). He was not sure  
10 whether the shots were fired inside or outside the apartment (2  
11 APP 211).

12 Hollimon lay on the floor until they heard a knock on the  
13 door that was the manager stating he wanted to talk (2 APP  
14 201). Shortly thereafter the police came in and pulled  
15 everyone out of the apartment (2 APP 202).

17 Hollimon had visited at CAMPBELL'S apartment on July 4,  
18 2000 and the Mexican neighbors had been firing guns into the  
19 air (2 APP 203-04). He knew that they had guns and that was  
20 one of the reasons he ran when the instant incident occurred (2  
21 APP 203). Prior to July 22nd, CAMPBELL had told Hollimon that  
22 he had his children sleep in the living room because he was  
23 afraid to let them sleep in the bedroom as the Mexicans were  
24 always out by the window drinking and getting drunk (2 APP  
25 204).

26 During the evening of Friday, July 21st Leonardo Martinez  
27 and his friends and brothers had been playing soccer and then  
28

1 decided to go to Rigoberto Villanueva's house to watch a soccer  
2 match (2 APP 216). The plan was to watch the game, eat some  
3 tacos, and drink some beer (2 APP 217). At about 1:30 a.m.,  
4 Leonardo and his brother Augustin were in the parking lot of  
5 the apartment complex discussing whether to go home or stay for  
6 a little while longer (2 APP 217). Leonardo had consumed about  
7 four beers (2 APP 217). While they were talking a vehicle  
8 drove up and parked and two black men exited (2 APP 218). The  
9 two individuals walked around a corner for about three seconds  
10 and then came back over where the Martinez' were located, and  
11 CAMPBELL had a gun in his hand (2 APP 218).

12 CAMPBELL walked up to about two feet away and stated that  
13 he did not want to see any more fucking Mexicans here (2 APP  
14 219). When Augustin stood up, CAMPBELL hit him in the face  
15 with the hand that held the gun, and Augustin went inside to  
16 call the police (2 APP 219). Augustin called out for help and  
17 Carlos, Javier, Humberto and Wilfredo came to see what was  
18 happening, and when they arrived CAMPBELL started shooting (2  
19 APP 219). There was a group of about seven other individuals  
20 that ran over to the incident and then ran away before the  
21 police arrived (2 APP 229). Rigoberto and Leonardo's four year  
22 old son also came out and went to hide behind the truck when  
23 the shooting started (2 APP 219). Leonardo told CAMPBELL not  
24 to shoot because the boy was there and CAMPBELL stated "so,  
25 it's just a little Mexican" (2 APP 220). The person with  
26 CAMPBELL was behind him telling him to shoot (2 APP 220).  
27  
28

1 According to Leonardo, CAMPBELL was chasing Humberto,  
2 Augustin and Javier across the parking lot while shooting (2  
3 APP 220). Leonardo ran with his son to Rigoberto's apartment  
4 and called the police (2 APP 221). A minute later he heard two  
5 or three more shots (2 APP 221). He looked up and saw two  
6 people on the ground (2 APP 221). Leonardo starting kicking  
7 CAMPBELL'S car and that was when the police arrived (2 APP  
8 227).

9 Leonardo was interviewed by the police on the night of the  
10 incident and told them that the reason he went outside was  
11 because he heard the first shot (2 APP 224). He also told the  
12 police that he heard his brother yelling for help and that was  
13 why he ran outside (2 APP 225). Three or four days later  
14 Leonardo gave another statement to the police and told them a  
15 different story, that he was outside with his brother when  
16 CAMPBELL approached them (2 APP 228).

17 Augustin Martinez recalled that he was arguing a little  
18 bit with his brother, Leonardo and that he had urinated at the  
19 back of a truck located by the corner of the apartment building  
20 (2 APP 236). CAMPBELL came over to where they were located and  
21 had a gun next to his leg in his hand (2 APP 236). CAMPBELL  
22 said mother fucker Mexicans and when Augustin tried to stand up  
23 hit him in the forehead (2 APP 237). Augustin then went to  
24 Rigoberto's house and called 911 (2 APP 237). He heard two  
25 gunshots while he was on the phone and went back outside (2 APP  
26 237). He encountered Humberto and the two of them were joined  
27  
28

1 by Javier and ran across the parking lot to the apartments on  
2 the other side and heard a bullet hit the wall (2 APP 237).  
3 Augustin had consumed at least eight beers prior to the  
4 incident (2 APP 241).

5 Javier Villanueva on July 22, 2000 resided at 2929 Elm  
6 Avenue, apartment number one (2 APP 249). At about 1:30 he was  
7 standing at the front of the apartment with between six and  
8 eight friends (2 APP 249). Javier was talking with his friend  
9 Luis Alberto Martinez (2 APP 249). He had consumed between two  
10 and three beers (2 APP 250). Suddenly the other people took  
11 off running toward the back of the apartments where the cars  
12 are parked (2 APP 250). Javier jogged over to the area and  
13 encountered two black men and was struck in the head and  
14 knocked unconscious (2 APP 250). He was the last one to reach  
15 the parking lot and heard gunshots just as he was getting there  
16 (2 APP 253). When he regained consciousness he saw his  
17 brother, Carlos Villanueva, and Luis Martinez laying on the  
18 ground behind a pickup truck (2 APP 251).

20 Carlos Villanueva testified from a wheelchair that he had  
21 played soccer on July 21st and then went to Rigoberto's house  
22 to watch TV, eat tacos and drink beer (2 APP 256). He drank  
23 five or six beers (2 APP 256). He was going into the apartment  
24 when he heard Augustin and Leonardo arguing with two black  
25 individuals (2 APP 256). He went over to try to calm things  
26 down and the two black individuals started backing up (2 APP  
27 257). When Carlos and the others got close one of the men took  
28



1 out a gun and started shooting into the air (2 APP 257). He  
2 fired two shots and Carlos ran to the side and hid behind a car  
3 (2 APP 257). He turned and saw one of the guys hitting his  
4 brother on the head with a gun (2 APP 257). Carlos went over  
5 and pulled Javier into the parking lot (2 APP 257). He then  
6 went back over by the pickup and felt something hot going into  
7 his body (3 APP 264). While he was on the ground he heard  
8 another shot and he thought his friend was hit (3 APP 264).

9       Noe Villanueva recalled that he was outside the apartment  
10 where he lived talking with his brothers and friends (3 APP  
11 296). At one point Luis and Augustin were arguing and had to be  
12 separated by Noe and Leonardo (3 APP 298). They were getting  
13 angry with each other and talking about fighting each other (3  
14 APP 310). Both of them were drunk (3 APP 312). Shortly later  
15 Augustin came and said he got into an argument with a black man  
16 and he wanted them to go over and help him so they all ran over  
17 (3 APP 313). CAMPBELL fired two shots into the air (3 APP  
18 299). CAMPBELL hit Javier two times on the head with the gun  
19 and also pointed the gun at Noe (3 APP 301). Javier attempted  
20 to take the gun away from CAMPBELL (3 APP 314). Noe also saw  
21 CAMPBELL shooting at Humberto and Javier (3 APP 302). Noe  
22 stood and watched what was happening and didn't see CAMPBELL  
23 anymore but saw a hand come out of the bathroom window and fire  
24 shots at Luis and Carlos (3 APP 304).

25       Wilfredo Menendez lived at 2937 Elm, Apartment number 3 (3  
26 APP 325). He was over at Rigoberto's house having kind of a  
27  
28

1 party, having drinks and eating barbeque (3 APP 325). He drank  
2 about five beers (3 APP 337). There was an argument outside of  
3 the apartment and he went outside and saw CAMPBELL with a gun  
4 in his hand pointing it at all of them (3 APP 326), and then  
5 fire some shots (3 APP 329). Some of the others ran away, but  
6 Wilfredo ducked behind a truck (3 APP 329). He saw CAMPBELL go  
7 around the side to where his apartment was at and then saw a  
8 gun stick out the bathroom window (3 APP 329). The gun was  
9 fired three or four times (3 APP 334).

10 John Woodring was the maintenance manager for the  
11 apartment complex and had been out to a concert and came by the  
12 apartments to drop off his daughter (3 APP 368). He observed a  
13 party going on outside the sliding glass door of 2929 Elm (3  
14 APP 371). He made his rounds of the apartments and stopped and  
15 told the individuals that were partying to be good and not be  
16 drinking from glass bottles (3 APP 371). Some of them were  
17 getting drunk and were a little rude to him (3 APP 375). He  
18 and his wife left and went back to their house and later  
19 received a call from their daughter that prompted him to return  
20 to the complex, where he observed police cars and the apartment  
21 taped off (3 APP 376). Woodring talked with the police and  
22 gave them the key to CAMPBELL'S apartment so they would not  
23 have to kick the door down (3 APP 378).

24 After the police left, Woodring cleaned up the area and  
25 picked up wooden sticks, broken bats or chair legs, broken  
26 glass and cans (3 APP 381). He picked a whole trash can full  
27  
28

1 of trash (3 APP 382). He had had problems with the Mexican  
2 tenants drinking, partying too much, urinating on buildings and  
3 causing fights between other tenants (3 APP 402).

4 Roberta Sandlin was the manager of the apartment complex  
5 and also noticed on July 22nd that the boys from Villanueva's  
6 apartment were outside drinking (3 APP 408). Because of past  
7 problems she had enacted rules that without permission there  
8 was to be no parties outside after 10 o'clock and no glass  
9 containers at all (3 APP 409). There had been a party once  
10 where someone was stabbed with an icepick, and they would fight  
11 amongst themselves when they got drunk (3 APP 413). She had  
12 had a number of confrontations about people urinating on the  
13 premises (3 APP 414).

14 Tovah Gold lived at 2917 Elm Avenue, apartment number 2 (3  
15 APP 416). After the concert she went back to her apartment and  
16 went into the bathroom and heard some Mexicans getting really  
17 loud and obnoxious and yelling some pretty rude stuff (3 APP  
18 417). She opened her bathroom window and saw a couple of  
19 people in the alleyway by CAMPBELL'S car and hanging on the  
20 fence in the alleyway (3 APP 418). The noise seemed to get  
21 louder and she heard gunshots, then a couple more and a final  
22 couple of shots (3 APP 421). She called her mother and father  
23 (John and Roberta) and told them that she had heard gunshots  
24 and they needed to come back to the apartment complex (3 APP  
25 422). She again looked out her window and saw two of the  
26 Mexicans running through the alleyway and one of them threw  
27  
28

1 something into the dumpster that made a clank (3 APP 422). She  
2 had never observed anyone urinating against the buildings but  
3 it always smelled bad right by CAMPBELL'S apartment (3 APP  
4 425).

5 Rhianna Sandlin on July 22, 2000 lived at 2917 Elm,  
6 Apartment 4, which was located above the apartment of Tovah  
7 Gold (3 APP 441). Early that morning she heard a lot of  
8 screaming, yelling and bad words in Spanish (3 APP 441). She  
9 looked out her bedroom window but did not see anything at first  
10 but then observed a group of about ten Hispanic males yelling  
11 towards the front of a vehicle (3 APP 442). She observed one  
12 of them holding something silver in his hand and then heard  
13 shots and called 9-1-1 (3 APP 442). While she was on the phone  
14 she heard additional shots and looked out her window again and  
15 it looked like a fight was going on (3 APP 442). After the  
16 police arrived she told them what she had observed, but they  
17 did not take a statement from her (3 APP 443).  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28

ARGUMENT

## I.

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO  
REFUSE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON  
DEFENDANT'S THEORY OF SELF DEFENSE

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