2		
3		
4		ΛΟΙΛΙΛΙ
5	DAMON LAMAR CAMPBELL,	, ORIGINAL
6	Appellant,	
7	V.	) CASE NO. $39127$ <b>FILED</b>
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	) FILED
9	Respondent.	) OCT 07 2002
10		JANETTE M. BLOOM CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
11		BY DEPUTY CLERK
12	RESPONDENT	T'S ANSWERING BRIEF
13	Appeal From Fighth Indicial D	Judgment Of Conviction District Court, Clark County
14		
15		
16	DAVID M. SCHIECK, ESQ. Law Office of David M. Schieck	STEWART L. BELL Clark County District Attorney
17	Nevada Bar No. 0824	Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar No. 000477 Clark County Court House

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

# ARGUMENT

Ι

### THE COURT'S DECISION IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON DEFENDANT'S THEORY OF SELF-DEFENSE WAS NOT IMPROPER

Defendant asserts that the self-defense instruction was improper. However, after objecting to the instruction, counsel agreed that the instruction proposed by the court would convey the intended defense theory to the jury. Therefore, this issue has not been preserved for appellate review.

27 "The failure to object or to request special instruction to the jury precludes
28 appellate consideration." <u>McCall v. State</u>, 91 Nev. 556, 557, 540 P.2d 95, 95

I:\APPELLAT\WPDOCS\SECRETAR\BRIEF\ANSWER\CAMPBELL.WPD 3

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

(1975); Etcheverry v. State, 107 Nev. 782, 784-85, 821 P.2d 350, 351 (1991). 1 2 Where a defendant fails to preserve an issue, this Court will review that issue only 3 if it is patently prejudicial or constitutes plain error. See <u>Hewitt v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 4 387, 392, 936 P.2d 330, 333 (1997) (emphasis added), overruled in part on other grounds by Martinez v. State, 115 Nev. Adv. Op. No. 2, 974 P.2d 133, 135 (1999). 5 In addition, "an improper instruction rarely justifies a finding of plain error." 6 United States v. Still, 857 F.2d 671, 671 (9th Cir. 1988) (quoting United States v. 7 Glickman, 604 F.2d 625, 632 (9th Cir. 1979)). "It is the rare case in which an 8 improper instruction will justify reversal of a criminal conviction when no objection 9 has been made in the trial court." Henderson v. Kibbe, 431 U.S. 145, 154, 97 S.Ct. 10 11 1730, 1736 (1977).

In the present case, defense counsel agreed that the self-defense instruction 12 submitted to the jury properly conveyed the intended message. In response to the 13 court's request for additional instructions, counsel originally proposed an additional 14 instruction to the court that provided, "a person who is attacked by more than one 15 person has the right to act in self defense against all of his attackers." (A.A. 449) In 16 17 response, the court suggested that the instruction be modified to include the plural version of assailant such that the instruction would read, "However, where a person 18 19 without voluntarily seeking, provoking, inviting, or willingly engaging in the difficulty of his own free will is attacked by an assailant(s), he has the right to stand 20 his ground and need not retreat when faced with the threat of deadly force." (A.A. 21 454). Defense counsel agreed that the proposed instruction properly provided that a 22 23 person has the right to act in self-defense against all of the assailants. He responded, "I think the - you can't pick and nitpick when you have a group situation 24 going on, and I would agree with the Court that adding in parenthesis S to assailant 25 would convey that message to the jury." (A.A. 450). 26

This Court has stated that "when a defendant's counsel has not only failed at 27 trial to object to jury instructions, but has agreed to them, the failure to object or to

request special instructions precludes appellate consideration . . . The only exception we have recognized to this otherwise absolute rule is one for plain error." Bonacci v. State, 96 Nev. 894, 899, 620 P.2d 1244, 1247 (1980). In the instant case, defense counsel agreed that the instruction properly conveyed the message to the jury. For that reason, the issue is not properly preserved for appellate review.

Furthermore, the instruction submitted to the jury did not constitute plain 6 7 error and properly conveyed the Defendant's theory of self-defense. This Court has held that "upon request, criminal defendants are entitled to jury instructions on their 8 9 theory of a case so long as there is some evidence, regardless of how weak or incredible, to support their theories." Ducksworth v. State, 113 Nev. 780, 792, 942 10 11 P.2d 157, 165 (1997); citing Harris v. State, 106 Nev. 667, 670 799 P.2d 1104, 1105-06 (1990). However, this Court has consistently held that the trial court does 12 not commit reversible error in refusing to instruct the jury on defendant's theory of 13 14 the case where the offered instructions are substantially covered by the instructions 15 given to the jury. Runion v. State, 116 Nev. 1041, 13 P.3d 52 (2000); Shannon v. State, 105 Nev. 782, 783 P.2d 942 (1989); Cavanaugh v. State, 102 Nev. 478, 729 16 P.2d 481 (1986); Mulligan v. State, 101 Nev. 627, 708 P.2d 289 (1985); Ford v. 17 State, 99 Nev. 209, 660 P.2d 992 (1983); Taylor v. State, 96 Nev. 385, 609 P.2d 18 1238 (1980); Roland v. State, 96 Nev. 300, 608 P.2d 500 (1980); Beets v. State, 94 19 Nev. 89, 575 P.2d 591 (1978); Geary v. State, 91 Nev. 784, 544 P.2d 417 (1975); 20 Azbill v. State, 88 Nev. 240, 495 P.2d 1064 (1972). 21

23 24 25

1

2

3

4

5

22 Instruction No. 29 was proper because the defendant would have been entitled to an acquittal if the jury had accepted his theory of the evidence. The Defendant contends that "the jury could have been confused into believing that Campbell's action could not be shown to be self-defense, unless the specific individuals with the weapons were the ones that were shot." (A.A. 17) However, 26 the instruction submitted to the jury is devoid of any such distinction. Nothing in 27 Instruction No. 29 suggests that self-defense would only be available to the 28

defendant if his actions were directed at those victims who possessed weapons. 1 Rather, the instruction provided that the defendant was entitled to self-defense 2 3 against any assailants, provided that the defendant was not the original aggressor. Thus, if the jury had accepted the Defendant's theory that the defendant was 4 5 originally attacked by a mob of assailants, he would have been entitled to an 6 acquittal. The Defendant's conviction, therefore, resulted from the factual 7 determination by the jury that the victims were not shot in self-defense. For that 8 reason, Instruction No. 29 does not entitle the Defendant to a reversal of his conviction. 9

# Π

10

11

12

### THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO STRIKE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES

The Defendant contends that he filed a Motion to Strike Aggravating 13 Circumstances in which he argued that insufficient evidence existed to support the 14 15 allegations in the State's Notice of Intent. (Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 18). However, even a cursory perusal of Defendant's motion reveals that it failed to 16 address with particularity the aggravating circumstances alleged in the State's 17 18 Notice (AA 18-23). Instead, it merely advanced a general attack on NRS 200.033. 19 Inasmuch as Defendant failed to present argument with respect to the anticipated evidence supporting the aggravators alleged in the State's Notice, the district court 20 21 did not err in denying Defendant's boilerplate motion.

In his opening brief, Defendant fails to direct his argument to the specific aggravators alleged in this case. Instead the Defendant bases his argument on the bare allegation that the instant case was not a capital case but was only tried as one to gain a tactical advantage over the defense. However, this allegation lacks merit. The State aggressively pursued the death penalty during the guilt phase and alleged three aggravating circumstances to justify the imposition of a death sentence, two of which were alleged in the alternative. First, the state alleged that the killing was

based upon a racial motive, based in part on the statements the Defendant made 1 2 prior to the shooting. Alternatively, the State argued that if the jury did not believe 3 that the killing was based upon race, that the killing was random and without apparent motive. Second, the State alleged that an aggravating circumstance 4 5 existed in that the defendant, through his course of conduct, created a risk of death 6 or bodily harm to more than one person by firing a multitude of gunshots at various 7 individuals. In fact, the jury returned a special verdict that this aggravating 8 circumstance was proved beyond a reasonable doubt. (Respondent's Appendix, 32-33). Thus, Defendant's contention that this was not properly prosecuted as a capital 9 10 case is belied by the record. The fact that the Defendant was ultimately spared the death sentence lends no credence to the argument that the Defendant's case was not 11 a capital case. The state actively sought the death penalty because the Defendant's 12 actions were abhorrent enough to justify the most severe form of punishment. 13 14 Therefore, the Defendant's proposition that the state unjustly sought a death sentence is unfounded. 15

16 Furthermore, a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a fair and impartial jury is not violated when the jury is "death qualified." <u>Lockhart v. McCree</u>, 476 17 U.S. 162, 106 S. Ct. 1758 (1986); Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 18 1770 (1968). Neither is there a presumption that a death qualified jury is biased in 19 favor of the prosecution, as defendant erroneously contends by alleging that a jury 20 21 is more prone to convict and is therefore not impartial. McKenna v. State, 101 22 Nev. 338, 705 P.2d 614 (1985). The burden rests upon the defendant to prove that 23 a jury that convicted the defendant was not fair and impartial. Williams v. State, 24 103 Nev. 227-231, 737 P.2d 508, 512 (1987); Summers v. State, 102 Nev. 195, 199, 718 P.2d 676, 679 (1986). 25

26 NRS 175.552 expressly provides that

27

28

Upon a finding that a defendant is guilty of murder of the first degree, the court shall conduct a separate penalty hearing to determine whether the defendant shall be sentenced to death or to life imprisonment with

or without possibility of parole. The hearing shall be conducted in the trial court before the trial jury . . .

It is now axiomatic that any juror who would be automatically opposed to the imposition of the death penalty regardless of the evidence or whose attitude concerning the death penalty would prevent or substantially impair his performance of his duties is not a juror who is able to follow the applicable law of capital cases. Hence, such a juror is properly the subject of a challenge for cause. <u>See</u> Witherspoon, supra, and Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 105 S. Ct. 844, 83 L. Ed. 2d 841 (1985). Any juror who cannot at least consider the full range of punishments provided in this state for murder of the first degree is not a juror who can render equal and exact justice to both parties.

As stated earlier, these issues have been previously raised and rejected. The court in its hearing on October 1, 2001 rejected the Defendant's motion to strike aggravating circumstances. As such, the defendant is not entitled to a new trial simply because the State justifiably pursued a death sentence.

## Ш

## THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES ENUNCIATED IN NRS 200.033 ARE NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL

As noted in argument II, prior to trial, the Defendant filed a Motion to Strike Notice of Aggravating Circumstances, in which he alleged that the aggravating circumstances enunciated in NRS 200.033 are unconstitutional as they fail to truly narrow the categories of death eligible defendants. The trial court subsequently denied the Defendant's motion, ruling that the Nevada Supreme Court had already determined the statutory scheme is constitutional. (A.A. 34). The Defendant now challenges the ruling on appeal. However, the constitutionality of the statute in question is well established. Therefore, the Defendant's claim lacks merit.

The Constitution requires that the penalty of death must not be imposed in an arbitrary and capricious manner. <u>Furman v. Georgia</u>, 408 U.S. 238, 92 S.Ct. 2736

(1972). Subsequent to Furman, the United States Supreme Court was called upon 1 2 to determine the constitutionality of the death penalty statute that was previously 3 struck down in Furman v. Georgia, supra. Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 96 S.Ct. 2909 (1976). The revised Georgia statute provided that a killing occurring 4 5 during a burglary is deemed to be an aggravating circumstance. Id. 428 U.S. at 165, 6 96 S.Ct. at 2921. The court explained: "In summary, the concerns expressed in Furman that the penalty of death not be imposed in an arbitrary or capricious manner can be met by carefully drafting a 7 8 statute that ensures that the sentencing authorities is given adequate information and guidance. As a general proposition these concerns are best met by a system that provides for a bifurcated proceeding at which the sentencing authority is apprised of the information 9 10 relevant to the imposition of sentence and provided with 11 the standards to guide its use of the information.' 12 Id. 428 U.S. at 195, 96 S.Ct. at 2935. The high court rejected Gregg's claim that 13 14 the statute was so broad and vague that it allowed jury's to act arbitrarily and capriciously in deciding whether to impose the death penalty. Id. 428 U.S. at 200, 15 96 S.Ct. 2938. 16 Once again, during the same term as Gregg v. Georgia, supra, the United 17 18 States Supreme Court upheld the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute. 19 Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct. 2960 (1976). Florida's statutory scheme was almost identical to our present statute. More specifically, Florida's legislature 20 also made the killing of a human being during the perpetration or attempted 21 22 perpetration of a burglary an aggravating circumstance. Id. 428 U.S. 250, 96 S.Ct. at 2965. Proffitt argued that "The enumerated aggravating mitigating circumstances 23 are so vague and so broad that virtually any capital defendant becomes a candidate 24 for the death penalty ... " Id. 428 U.S. at 255, 96 S.Ct. at 2968. The high court 25 upheld the constitutionality of Florida's statute by stating "Thus, in Florida, as in 26 27 Georgia, it is no longer true that there is 'no meaningful basis for distinguishing the 28

few cases in which [the death penalty] is imposed from the many cases from which 1 it is not." (Citations omitted) Id. 428 U.S. at 253, 96 S.Ct. at 2967. 2 3 Likewise, our Nevada Supreme Court has held that our statutory scheme 4 which closely matches the Georgia and Florida statutes passes constitutional muster. Bennett v. State, 106 Nev. 135, 787 P.2d 797, cert. denied, 498 U.S. 925, 5 6 111 S.Ct. 307 (1990); Williams v. State, 103 Nev. 227, 737 P.2d 508 (1987); 7 Nevius v. State, 101 Nev. 238, 699 P.2d 1053 (1985); Ibarra v. State, 100 Nev. 167, 8 679 P.2d 797 (1984); Deutscher v. State, 95 Nev. 669, 601 P.2d 407 (1979); Bishop v. State, 95 Nev. 511, 597 P.2d 273 (1979). 9 The clear weight of authority supports the constitutionality of NRS 200.033. 10 Accordingly, Defendant's contention that the aggravating circumstances enunciated 11 12 in the statute are unconstitutional lacks merit. 13 IV 14 IERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE **NVICT THE DEFENDANT OF** FIRST DEGREE MURDER 15 Defendant argues that his conviction for First Degree Murder with Use of a 16 Deadly Weapon was not supported by sufficient evidence. However, there was 17 18 ample evidence for a jury to find Defendant guilty of the crime charged. The standard of review for sufficiency of evidence in a criminal case is 19 20 "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime 21 22 beyond a reasonable doubt." Lisle v. State, 113 Nev. 540, 937 P.2d 473 (1997)(quoting Lav v. State, 110 Nev. 1189, 1192, 886 P.2d 448, 450 (1994)). 23 It is the province of the jury to decide how they will interpret the testimony 24 given at trial. "[I]t is for the jury to determine what weight and credibility to give 25 various testimony." Hutchins v. State, 110 Nev. 103, 107, 867 P.2d 1136, 1139 26 27 (1994). This function is exclusively within the province of the trier of fact. Bolden 28 v. State, 97 Nev. 71, 73, 624 P.2d 20 (1981); Guy v. State, 108 Nev. 770, 776, 839 I:\APPELLAT\WPDOCS\SECRETAR\BRIEF\ANSWER\CAMPBELL.WPD 10

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